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1.  INTRODUCTION

Part 1 of the Commons Act 2006 provides for the review and updating of the commons registers. As part of this process, applications to register land as common that failed under the 1965 Commons Registration Act may in certain cases be reconsidered. The cases that qualify are defined by Schedule 2(4) of the 2006 Act. Where an application under Schedule 2(4) is successful, the land in question will be added to the commons register (‘re-registered’).

This report examines the potential impact of Schedule 2(4) on the Lancashire Register of Common Land. It draws on a number of sources including the register entries; the Commons Commissioners’ Decision Letters; the case files retained by the County Council relating to the original registration process; and the archives held by Lancashire Record Office. The primary aim is to identify the areas in Lancashire that are eligible for re-registration. The report, however, is also intended to provide an initial assessment of the sources of information referred to here and an indication of the extent to which they may, as a general case, provide the evidence needed to support applications for the re-registration of common land. In the case of Lancashire, the records held by The National Archives at Kew may be of especial importance, including as they do those of the Duchy of Lancaster. These records may e.g. be particularly helpful in relation to the coastal CL units north of the Wyre in which the Duchy interest has, in the past, clearly been strong.

References to documents held by Lancashire Record Office are listed at the end of each entry in square brackets ([LRO Ref: ]). These references are taken from the LRO Guide and on-line catalogue and will usually relate to sources of information providing evidence of manorial status. One such source that is of general interest is a group of records concerning the registration of gamekeepers [LRO Ref: QDG/1]. These records provide a means of identifying the names of Lords of the Manor during the period 1711–1967.

A set of Case Assessment Sheets has already been produced for the pilot-area registers covering all of the land that was provisionally but not finally registered under the 1965 Act (i.e. the areas that may now be eligible for re-registration).
 The Sheets provide an assessment of these areas for each register, showing which of the individual ‘CL units’ comes within the application criteria defined by Schedule 2(4)(2)–(5). If this land is to qualify for re-registration, it must be shown that it is still ‘waste of a manor’. For this to be true, it would need to satisfy two further requirements: (i) the land in question must be – or have been at some time in the past – ‘of a manor’; and (ii) it must still be waste land (‘open, uncultivated and unoccupied’). The present report is concerned with the first of these requirements. The second is largely to do with the physical state of the land; the proof of which would need to draw on photographic evidence produced as the result of a site visit or on map-based information related to land-cover or land-use. Where, then, it is indicated in the report that a CL unit is eligible for re-registration, this is with the proviso that it must still be waste land.
A Summary Table giving details of the CL units covered in the report will be found at Appendix II. Where there is conclusive evidence or a strong case for re-registration, the record in the Table is highlighted in green. Sections 2–10 of the report are arranged according to geographical location. The entries in Sections 2–5 are for coastal marshes; whilst those in Sections 6–10 include the larger units of the upland areas of the county. A second group of CL units (Sections 11–13) is classified according to the special status of the land (regulated pastures; inclosure allotments; pinfolds); whilst the entries in Sections 14–15 relate to specific types of application. Section 16 covers the units that – despite their status as land that was provisionally but not finally registered under the 1965 Act – will not be eligible for re-registration. The area shown in brackets for each CL unit (ha = hectares) is for the land that was originally registered (cf Table at Appendix II).
[This report was produced as part of a public-interest project funded by the Joseph Rowntree Reform Trust Ltd. The results of the project are available at: www.commonsreregistration.org.uk]
Steve Byrne

9th January 2010
2.  MORECAMBE BAY
CL 130 Silverdale Salt Marsh (15.00 ha)
CL 154 Silverdale Marsh (240.00 ha)
CL 273 The Salt Marsh, Silverdale and Warton (370.00 ha)
The inquiries into these three cases were complex, long-drawn-out and at times confused. They were all dealt with by the same commissioner, and were finally disposed of together on 26th October 1982 (all the registrations were declared to be void as of 1st October 1982). The land in each case was provisionally registered as the result of a rights application. The objectors were G C Harries and R G Swainson, the former being the owner of the land (R G Swainson was a local solicitor acting for Harries; the RSPB was later involved as successor in title to the land). The registrations were cancelled with the agreement or acquiescence of the parties. The land will therefore qualify for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5) if it can be shown to be ‘of a manor’ in the required sense. [LRO Ref: DDTo ~ Towneley of Towneley: Silverdale, Warton & Yealand Court Books/ Rolls][TNA Ref: (Starting) DL 30/463/16 ~ Court Records of Manor of Warton (1804–1815)].
CL 283 The Salt Marsh, Bolton-le-Sands, Slyne-with-Hest, Silverdale and Warton (400.00 ha)
This application involved the same ownership interests as the Silverdale cases (above). The land was registered by G C Harries in December 1969. He subsequently made a rights application in September 1970; then objected, in July 1972, to both of his own applications. These were cancelled without referral on 9th November 1972. The land will therefore qualify for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5) if it can be shown to be ‘of a manor’. (The evidence produced in support of the objections included a Duchy Grant and an Inclosure Award. There are copies/extracts of these in the LCC case file). [LRO Ref: DDX/391 ~ Bolton-le-Sands rectorial manor court rolls (1799–1947); DDGr ~ Dawson-Greene of Whittington: Slyne-with-Hest Court Books]
3.  THE LUNE ESTUARY & SUNDERLAND POINT
CL 151 Land at Overton (2.00 ha)

CL 212 Salt Marsh, Overton and Middleton (90.00 ha)

CL 238 The Salt Marsh and Lades Marsh, Overton (9.00 ha)
These cases were considered together at the same Hearing and are covered by a single Decision Letter. CL 151 lies wholly within the boundaries of CL 212 (the largest of the units) which comprises marshland on the western side of the Sunderland Point peninsula. The greater part of CL 238 is located on the opposite (eastern) side of the peninsula. The issues involved are complex and include a number of conflicting rights and ownership claims. In each case, however: (i) the land was registered as the result of a rights application; (ii) all the registrations were cancelled by agreement at the Hearing. All three CL units may now be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5), though proof would be needed of their manorial status.
Another factor common to all three applications was the commissioner’s refusal to consider the evidence produced by Rev C E Bellamy (the Vicar of Overton) and Mr S Pearson. Neither was ‘entitled to be heard’ and the commissioner apparently felt that the public interest was adequately represented by Overton Parish Council. The evidence is relevant to all these cases (and also to that of another ‘Overton’ unit, CL 211). The aim of Pearson and Bellamy was to show that the land now claimed as common belonged to, or was held in trust for, the inhabitants of Overton [see copy of newspaper article in case file]. In support of this claim, they produced a number of historical documents. Copies of two of them – a court judgement of 1619 and an indenture of 1632 – are included in the case files held by LCC.
These two documents confirm the manorial status of the land. The court judgement of 1619 concerns a dispute between the Duchy of Lancaster and its copyhold tenants in Overton, which is said to form part of the Manor of Skerton. The judgement refers generally to ‘all and every the marsh grounds within Overton’; but also makes specific reference to the marshes lying ‘between Overton and the west sea’ (see Sheet 3). The obvious assumption that the ‘west sea’ is the Irish Sea is reinforced by references in the same context to the ‘lands called Sunderland’. If this assumption is true, it follows that all three CL units (and also CL 211) can be safely placed within the manor of Overton/Skerton. The second document, an indenture of 1632, relates to the sale of the Lordship of the Manor of Overton and records an agreement between the purchasers and the ‘yeomen Tennants’ of the manor concerning (amongst other things) ‘the com’ons and wasts of and belonging to the said mannor of Overton’ (Sheet 4). Immediately following this reference, there is a sub-agreement involving the tenants of Overton and those of ‘the mannor and lordshipp of Skerton’. The implication is either that Overton should be seen as an ‘under-manor’ of Skerton; or that the two were split at some point, perhaps to facilitate the sale described in the indenture.
CL 211 Lades Marsh, Overton (80.00 ha)
The CL 211 land lies between Overton and the Sunderland Point peninsula. It was registered as the result of a rights application. The registration was objected to by R Long. As in the cases described above, the registrations were cancelled by agreement at the Hearing. Given its manorial status (see analysis above for the other Overton units), if the land is still ‘open, uncultivated and unoccupied’, it will be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5).
CL 135 The Salt Marsh, Thurnham (13.87 ha)
CL 135 was registered as the result of a rights application. From the register map and the maps held in the case file, it would seem that parts (1.75 ha) of the land adjacent to the old railway line at the eastern and western ends of the unit were excluded by agreement without referral to a commissioner. The Decision Letter [220/D/69] is concerned solely with the rights claim, the land and ownership entries being described (p. 1) as undisputed and final. The excluded land may therefore now be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5) if it can be shown that it is ‘waste of a manor’. There is, however, no evidence of this in the Decision Letter or the case file. [LRO Ref: DP/432/60–61 ~ Railway Plans (Lancaster and Glasson); DDDa: acc 5185 ~ Dalton family of Thurnham (Manorial records)].
4.  COCKERHAM & PILLING

CL 137 Cockerham Salt Marsh (75.00 ha)
CL 137 was registered as the result of a rights application. The registration was disputed and was cancelled without referral. The land will therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5) if it can be shown to be ‘of a manor’. The objector, G Oglethorpe, is stated in the objection form [10.11.70] to be ‘one of the Trustees of the Lordship of the Manor of Cockerham who are owners in fee simple of the marsh’. It would seem to follow that the land is, or was, ‘of a manor’. This is confirmed in a sale catalogue of 1787 (para XI): ‘Mr Charteris, as Lord of the Manor, claims the inheritance and soil of the marsh and sands of Cockerham’ together with ‘the exclusive right to the herbage or pasturage thereon, though two or three of the proprietors of inconsiderable estates adjoining have for some years past been suffered to turn their cattle thereon…’. [LRO Ref: DDO ~ Oglethorpe, Sturton, & Gillibrand, Solicitors of Lancaster (C14th–1962); DDO 1/95 ~ Sale Catalogue (1787)]

CL 119 Pilling Marsh (225.00 ha)
The land was registered by the Parish Council. The registration was objected to by R C Watson, though the case involved numerous disputes about rights/ownership claims. All the registrations were cancelled by the commissioner on the basis of an ‘informal agreement’ as to the future use of the land. CL 119 will therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5) if it can be shown to be ‘of a manor’. The only evidence of this in the case file is a claim on the part of R C & B Watson to the ownership of one-sixth of the Lordship of the Manor as attached to their holding (Lane End Farm). They also made a related claim in respect of CL 120 (The Pinfold, Pilling) to one-sixth of the folds. Whether or not these claims have any validity, they do suggest that it should not be difficult to find confirmation of past manorial status. [LRO Ref: DDX 1802 ~ Pilling: Manorial records (1747-1817)]

5.  THE RIBBLE ESTUARY

Both of the following cases were surrounded by controversy and were widely reported in the national and local press because of the threatened development of an area designated for its conservation value [copies newspaper articles in case file]. The threat to CL 203 drew the attention of the local planning authority; the Nature Conservancy Council (NCC); and the Department of the Environment (the Department eventually purchased the land for designation as a National Nature Reserve). There seems, at first, to have been an intention on the part of NCC to support the CL 203 application; though the Parish Councils in both these cases clearly came to feel that they could not risk an award of costs if they were unable to produce the relevant evidence in support of the applications at a commissioner’s Hearing.
CL 203 The Salt Marsh, North Meols (2100.00 ha)
The land was registered by North Meols Parish Council. There was also a claim that local people were ‘in the habit’ of collecting samphire, though this was not registered as a right. The land registration was objected to by Preston Borough Council (inclusion of channel of River Ribble); the River Crossens Drainage Board (inclusion of marsh banks/dikes); and Dickens Investment Co Ltd (Scarisbrick Estates). Faced with the possibility of an award of costs if the required evidence could not be produced at a Hearing, the Parish Council decided to withdraw its application; and agreed, in December 1973, to a Decision by Consent. This was finally confirmed without a Hearing in October 1978 [220/D/165–67]. Not long after, in 1979, the marsh was purchased by the Department of the Environment for £1.75 million to prevent its development for intensive agriculture. The land formed the core part of the Ribble Estuary National Nature Reserve, which was established later that year. If it could be shown now to be ‘of a manor’, CL 203 would be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5). It is already protected from development by public ownership and by its designation as an NNR. However, it is possible that its re-registration as common land might achieve some benefits in terms of public access under the C&RoW Act (which would be subject to regulation under the Act by Natural England). [LRO Ref: DDH: acc 6530 ~ Minutes of North Meols Court Leet ( C17th–C20th)]
CL 232 Hesketh Bank Marsh, Hesketh-with-Becconsall (650.00 ha)
CL 232, which lies to the east of CL 203, was registered by Hesketh-with-Becconsall Parish Council. The registration was objected to by Preston Borough Council (inclusion of channels of Rivers Ribble & Douglas) and W Slinger, the owner of the land. As with CL 203, the Parish Council was faced with the possibility of an award of costs if it could not produce the evidence required to support the application at a Hearing. With this in mind, the Council agreed to a Decision by Consent, which was confirmed without a Hearing in October 1978 [220/D/164]. If the land has not been developed, and if it can be shown to be ‘of a manor’, it will be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5). (The outer areas of the marsh, along the channels of the Ribble and the Douglas, were included in the NNR; the greater part of the unit, however, was not protected in this way). [LRO Ref: DRB 1/102 ~ Hesketh-with-Becconsall Tithe Award 1839; AE 3/4 ~ Hesketh-with-Becconsall Inclosure Award 1870]
6.  LECK FELL

CL 71 Fenwick Allotment, Leck Fell (175.00 ha)

CL 71 was registered by Ireby-with-Leck Parish Council. The registration was objected to by F A Holloway. The Council requested a cancellation prior to the Hearing, where the land and the rights registrations were rejected by the commissioner. The land will therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5) if it can be shown to be ‘of a manor’.
CL 72 High Leck Fell (675.00 ha)
CL 72 was also registered by Ireby-with-Leck Parish Council. The registration was objected to by M Catlow, one of the owners, on the grounds that the land had been inclosed over 100 years ago under the Tunstall Enclosure Award and was not common land. The registration was cancelled without referral. The land will therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5) if it can be shown to be ‘of a manor’ in the required sense.
Schedule 2(4) is concerned with the re-registration of land that is, or was at some time in the past, ‘of a manor’. It follows that, if an area retains the characteristics of ‘waste land’, it is not relevant that it may have been included in or affected by an agreed or statutory inclosure. In fact, the records of an inclosure act or award may provide strong evidence of manorial status. Many of the upland inclosures in Northern England – for example, those from the period immediately following the Napoleonic Wars – were speculative in nature. In some cases, the award made under the act was never put into effect; in others, it was realised that the improvement of the land was impracticable and it quickly reverted to waste. There are also quite a few examples of ‘partial’ awards where there was no intention to improve the higher, more marginal ground; and of ‘permissive’ inclosures where no fixed date was set for fencing off the allotted areas.
 
The Tunstall Inclosure Award of 1825 is a case in point. Though included in the inclosure, the land comprising CL 71 and CL 72 retains the character of ‘waste’. The lower ground of CL 72 was allotted to: (a) Richard Toulmin North; and (b) the Lord of the Manor. The higher ground was purchased by North in an agreement made as part of the Award. The land in CL 71, meanwhile, was allotted to Thomas Fenwick. The Award encompassed the ‘tract and parcels of moor common and waste grounds in the parish of Tunstal’. North is stated to be ‘Lord of the Manor of Tunstall…and as such seized of or well entitled to the soil and inheritance of and within the said tract and parcels of moor common and waste grounds’. Both CL units, that is, were waste of the manor of Tunstall prior to the 1825 Award. [LRO Ref: AE/5/13 & DDKS 28/10/3 ~ Inclosure Award and Plans].
7.  PENDLE HILL

CL 44 Worston Moor (110.00 ha)

The land was registered as the result of a rights application. The objectors were R J Assheton and B H Lonsdale. ‘The North East area’ (36.45 ha) was excluded as not subject to rights. The commissioner did not consider whether this land was waste. It will therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(4) if it can be shown to be ‘of a manor’. The manorial status of the land is confirmed by a reference at p. 3 of the Decision Letter [220/D/178–97] to an ‘affidavit of 1763 in the manorial records’ which describes the unit land as ‘common’. There is no copy of the affidavit in the LCC case file. There is, however, a letter in the file confirming a note in the land section of the register of the sporting rights over the ‘Manors of Chatburn, Worston and Pendleton, parcel of the Honour of Cliteroe’ that were claimed by G P le Gendre Starkie. [LRO Ref: Assheton of Downham/DDHCl ~ Honour of Clitheroe: Handlist of manorial records].

CL 204 Mearley Moor (100.00 ha)
CL 204 was registered as the result of a rights application. According to the case file, the registration was objected to by G P le Gendre Starkie (Huntroyde Estate) on the grounds that the rights were extinguished by an Inclosure Award of 17th June 1813. The applicants were allowed to inspect a copy of the Award and the application was subsequently cancelled without referral. The CL 204 land will therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5) if it can be shown to be ‘of a manor’. The 1813 ‘award’ was, in fact, an inclosure agreement affecting the ‘Commons and Waste Grounds’ known as ‘Mearley Moor’, which were said to comprise 590 acres (about 240 ha). The Trustees of the Lord of the Manor of Great Mearley (parcel of the township of Mearley) were allotted land ‘for all their Rights in or to the Soil only of the said Commons and Waste Grounds’. Prior to the agreement, then, the land was waste of the manor of Great Mearley. There is no map showing the area inclosed; but given that the applicants withdrew on viewing the agreement, it must be assumed to have included the CL 204 land. The modern OS map shows what appears to have been a drift from Mearley Hall (in Great Mearley) onto an area of open country of the same extent as that described in the 1813 agreement. A short way to the NE, Little Mearly Hall stands in a similar relationship to an area of open land (which is included in the CL 217 application below) that is, or was, almost certainly waste of the manor of Little Mearly. [LRO Ref: DDFr 5/35 ~ Mearley Inclosure Agreement (1813)].
CL 217 Pendle Hill, Downham, Mearley and Worston (535.00 ha)
The land was provisionally registered as the result of a rights application made by the ‘Mayor, Aldermen and Burgesses of the Borough of Clitheroe’. The claim was to turbary rights that had been granted in an indenture of 1307 by Henry de Lacy to ‘his burgesses of Clyderowe’. There were numerous objections relating to different parts of CL 217; and the registration was finally cancelled without referral on the advice of the County Archivist [22.11.72]. The land may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5). Copies of the indenture and a map of the area claimed (later modified to exclude an overlap with CL 44 and CL 95) will be found in the LCC case file. What needs to be shown is the manorial status of the waste land lying within the manors of Little Mearley (see CL 204 above) and Downham. [LRO Ref: DDKe ~ Kenyon of Peel (Plans): Worston and Downham (1593)][TNA Ref: MPC 1/236 ~ Two maps showing the boundaries of the manors of Worston, Downham and Mearley (1593)].

8.  THE BOULSWORTH COMMONS
The four CL units referred to here as ‘the Boulsworth Commons’ cover an area of about 17.50 sq kms, stretching from the moors around Boulsworth Hill in the south to those around Combe Hill in the north (from south to north: CL 183 Boulsworth Hill; CL 261 Trawden Moor; CL 134 Trawden Moors; and CL 258 Combe Hill). All of the units lie within the former Urban District of Trawden and would, if re-registered, qualify as s193 ‘urban’ commons. At the time of their provisional registration, much of the land belonged to the Moor Lodge or Bannister Estate (see below). The Estate objected to all of the applications. The first three CL units were dealt with together at a single Hearing in Preston on 29th January 1981. The CL 258 Hearing was held the following day. The commissioner was Mr Squibb, who was at the time the Chief Commons Commissioner.

CL 183 Boulsworth Hill, Trawden and Nelson (650.00 ha)

CL 183 was registered as the result of a rights application. There were four claims to rights of grazing affecting the whole of the land. Two were limited by agreement so as to apply to only a small part of the CL unit (Deerstone Moor & Will Moor). One application was dismissed. The Hearing was ‘adjourned’ in respect of the rights claimed by Joseph Parker. These were surrendered in an agreement with the Bannister Estate in exchange for a 999 year lease of grazing rights ‘at a peppercorn rent’. On these grounds, Deerstone Moor & Will Moor (83.77 ha) were registered as common. The rest of the land was excluded as not subject to rights of common. The commissioner did not consider whether this land was ‘waste of a manor’.

CL 261 Trawden Moor (220.00 ha)
CL 261 was registered as the result of a rights application. There were two claims to rights of grazing affecting the whole of the land. One was confirmed as applying only to a limited area (67.75 ha). The Hearing was ‘adjourned’ in respect of the other (made by Joseph Parker). This was, again, surrendered in an agreement with the Bannister Estate in exchange for a 999 year lease of grazing rights ‘at a peppercorn rent’. As with CL 183, the small area of land agreed to be subject to common rights was registered. The rest of the application area was excluded. The commissioner did not consider whether this land was ‘waste of a manor’.
CL 134 Trawden Moors (475.00 ha)
CL 134 was registered as the result of a rights application. There were two claims to grazing rights affecting the whole of the land. The Hearing was ‘adjourned’ in respect of the claim made by Joseph Parker; who surrendered his common rights in an agreement with the Bannister Estate in exchange for a 999 year lease of grazing rights ‘at a peppercorn rent’. The other rights claim was at first confirmed as applying to the whole of the CL unit, which was therefore registered as common land. Both of these decisions were subsequently reversed, on the grounds that Mr Squibb had ‘deferred’ the decision on the right he had in fact already confirmed as a right of common. (The rights-holder, in the meantime, had made the same ‘exchange deal’ as Joseph Parker with the Bannister Estate). As a result, both the land and the rights registrations were declared void under a second brace of Decision Letters. In the other three cases discussed here, there is no indication that the commissioner considered whether the land he refused to register might be ‘waste of a manor’. In this instance, the wording in the (second) Decision Letter [220/D/217 Land (No 2)] is as follows: ‘There being no evidence that the land comprised in the Register Unit falls within the definition of “common land” in s.22(1) of the Commons Registration Act 1965, I refuse to confirm the registration’. There was, of course, ‘no evidence’ because the commissioner had himself seen to its disposal.
CL 258 Combe Hill (400.00 ha)
The land was registered as the result of an application by the Ramblers’ Association. The Association failed to attend the Hearing and was subject to an award of costs. There was one rights claim, made by Joseph Parker. Under an ‘adjournment’ of the Hearing, Parker surrendered his common rights in an agreement with the Bannister Estate in exchange for a 999 year lease of grazing rights ‘at a peppercorn rent’. Both the land and rights claims were therefore cancelled. The commissioner did not consider whether the land was ‘waste of a manor’.

All of these applications, then, were dealt with in the same way at what was effectively a single Hearing. The rights were either (i) cancelled; (ii) exchanged for grazing rights leased for 999 years ‘at a peppercorn rent’; or (iii) registered so as to apply to a very small part of the CL unit. The land registrations, with the exception of two small areas, were declared void. As a result, about 16 sq kms of land was lost to the registers. This outcome was deliberately facilitated by the Chief Commons Commissioner, Mr Squibb, who ‘adjourned’ the Hearings to allow the exchanges in (ii) to take place (leased rights, of course – even those leased for 999 years – could not be registered as rights of common). The extent of Mr Squibb’s complicity is evident from his dealings in the case of Trawden Moors (CL 134). Two Decision Letters were issued in 1981, confirming (a) a right of common applying to the whole of the CL unit; and (b) the registration of all of the land. Two further Letters were produced the following year reversing both these decisions. The case file for CL 134 includes a copy of a letter to LCC ‘recalling’ the original decisions, which are claimed to have been issued ‘through inadvertance’ on 14th August 1981. Apparently, the commissioner had been contacted three weeks after the Hearing and asked to endorse a further exchange of rights of the kind he had already facilitated, in respect of each of the four CL units, between the Bannister Estate and Joseph Parker. There is no provision in the regulations for private negotiations of this nature between the commissioner and one of the parties subsequent to a Hearing; nor is there any provision for the ‘recall’ of a Decision Letter that has been duly signed and issued – whether or not this was done ‘inadvertently’.

The decisions in all of these cases have the same character and exhibit the same method of proceeding. They also share the same intent: to facilitate private agreements that would prevent, as far as was possible, the registration of the land as common. All of them are tainted. Fortunately, because Mr Squibb did not consider whether the excluded land was ‘waste of a manor’, it  will now be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(4) – provided that it can be shown to be ‘of a manor’.
The documents in the LCC case files include a copy of a sale catalogue and related map, dated June 1953, for the Moor Lodge Estate (which, as noted above, includes most of the land covered by these four CL units). The ‘Special Conditions of Sale’ section of the catalogue is of most interest. It refers, firstly, to what appear to be grants creating rights of common over Trawden Moors on the sale of ‘several of the farms formerly belonging to the Vendors’ (James Nelson Ltd). The buyer, then, would be obliged to take the Moor Lodge Estate subject to these rights. According to the Decision Letter, the grazing rights over CL 134 were granted in August 1949 by D R, H P and J C Nelson [220/D/217 Land (No 1), para 3]. The conveyance creating the rights was examined by Mr Squibb and was the basis for his original decisions in the case of CL 134. Given the reference in the catalogue to ‘several farms’, it may well be that the exchanges facilitated by the commissioner were not the first ones to have been negotiated by the Bannister Estate.
The ‘Special Conditions’ section of the catalogue also stipulates that the Estate was to be sold ‘subject to…the rights of the Lords of the…Forest [of Trawden]’. Trawden was one of a group of forests (Pendle, Trawden, Accrington and Rossendale) belonging to the Honor of Clitheroe, which also owned forest lands in the Bowland area. Whilst the Bowland forests retained their status into the modern period, the areas in the former group, including Trawden, were disafforested by Henry VII in 1507 (the Honor of Clitheroe was held by the Crown from the late-C14th to the mid-C17th). According to G H Tupling, the lands affected were re-assigned to existing manors within the holdings of the Honor – though their status was subsequently called into question.
 The copyholds (‘newholds’) created in 1507 by the ‘Commission for Granting of the Forests’ were challenged by James I’s lawyers, who sought payment for confirmation of their ‘certainty’ (the contention being that these areas were not held by copy of the court roll but as ‘assarts’ taken out of the Forests). The ensuing dispute dragged on until 1662 when it was settled by an Act of Parliament, which confirmed the absorption of the forest lands into the adjacent manors – Pendle into Ightenhill; Trawden into Colne; and ‘New Accrington’ and Rossendale into Accrington. The rights of the ‘Lords of the Forest’, then, must be seen as manorial rights; the title itself being a purely honorary title after 1507.
 
The significance of the ‘copyhold dispute’ in the present context is that the forest lands were not manorial lands; but did become such when they were assigned to the adjacent manors. Map-based evidence confirming this change of status is to be found in a survey of the Honor of Clitheroe undertaken in 1804–10 by Thomas Barclay. The survey map and accompanying text (the latter is also available as a separate ‘book of reference’) describe the manors, forests, lands, mines, water resources, etc belonging to the Honor of Clitheroe. The text includes a formal ‘boundaries statement’ declaring the forests to be part of the manors. Given the nature and extent of this survey, the proof it provides of manorial status must be given substantial weight. Barclay’s map was produced at the same time as the first Ordnance Survey maps; and is accurate enough to have been used by Lancashire County Council on more than one occasion in the past to identify public rights of way that ought to be shown on the definitive map.
 On this basis, then, all of ‘the Boulsworth Commons’ may be placed within the manor of Colne. The survey map and text provide similarly conclusive evidence of the manorial status of the CL units that lie within the former forests of Pendle, Rossendale and ‘New’ Accrington and the manor of Tottington. An outline of the text to be found on the face of the map – including a transcript of the ‘boundaries statement’ referred to above – will be found at Appendix I. Copies of the map and book of reference are held by Lancashire Record Office.
Much of the land comprising the Boulsworth Commons (i.e. all but the northern part of CL 258) was included in the Trawden Inclosure Award of 1821. It is perhaps worth repeating here that the question of whether or not an area of land has been subject to inclosure is not relevant in the context of Schedule 2(4). The question to be answered is whether the land is, or was at some time in the past, ‘of a manor’; and whether it is still ‘waste land’. As suggested in the case of Leck Fell (see above), the Act or Award may in fact provide conclusive evidence of manorial status. According to the Trawden Award (1821), ‘Elizabeth Duchess Dowager of Buccleuch and Queensbury was Lady of the said Manor of Colne and of the said Forest or reputed Forest of Trawden lying therein and both within and parcel of the Honor of Clitheroe in the Countie of Lancaster…and as such was entitled to the Soil of the said open and common Pastures Moors Commons Commonable Lands and Waste Grounds and to all Mines Minerals and Quarries of what nature or kind soever within the same’. In other words, all of the land to be inclosed was waste of the manor of Colne prior to the Award. As is clear from Barclay’s map, the part of CL 258 not included in the Award (Emmot Moor) was also parcel of the manor of Colne. [LRO Ref: DDHCl/Maps/5 ~ Barclay’s map of Manors, Forests etc (1810); DDHCl/Box 77 ~ Survey of the Honor of Clitheroe (1805); UDTr 4/1 ~ Trawden Inclosure Award 1821]
9.  ROSSENDALE
Land re-registered in Rossendale would qualify as ‘urban’ common and would be subject to s193 of the Law of Property Act 1925 rather than Pt 1 of the C&RoW Act. The right of access would therefore extend to both walkers and horse-riders.
CL 284 Cribden Moor, Haslingden (40.00 ha)

The land was registered as the result of a single application for a right of turbary. There were several objectors, though there is no registered owner. The applicant did not appear at the Hearing (he had recently died) but a letter had already been received from his executors requesting a cancellation. The registration was rejected on this basis. The area is shown on Barclay’s map as part of the Manor of Accrington. It is therefore eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5). 
CL 139 Jackson Height and Pike Lowe, Oswaldtwistle & Haslingden (65.00 ha)
CL 139 was registered as the result of a rights application. The registration was objected to by Bolton Borough Council (Bolton Corporation Waterworks; successor body North West Water Authority, now United Utilities) who owned the southern part of the unit. The land and rights registrations were cancelled at the Hearing. The commissioner did not consider whether the land was waste. The area is clearly shown on Barclay’s map and is therefore eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(4).
CL 42 Holcombe Moor, Rossendale & Blackburn (466.00 ha)

CL 42 was registered by the Bolton & District Civic Trust. The land registration was objected to by G L Wilde. Two small parcels of land (6.00 ha) – ‘the objection pieces’ – were excluded by agreement at the Hearing on the grounds that they had been registered by mistake. This land is shown on Barclay’s map (at the southern end of ‘Holcome Moor’) as part of the manor of Tottington. It may be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5) if it can be shown still to be ‘waste land’.
CL 93 Holcombe Moor, Rossendale (140.00 ha)
The land was registered by R J Assheton (Lord Clitheroe). The registration was objected to by the Secretary of State for Defence. It was shown at the Hearing that all rights of common were extinguished when the land passed to the Territorial Force Association in 1916; and that none had been acquired since by prescription. The commissioner rejected the registration on these grounds. He did not consider whether the land was waste of a manor. It may therefore now be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(4). The case file for CL 93 includes a copy of a letter from the Treasury Solicitor to LCC [14.5.71] and of a Deed Poll of 25th April 1916 (enclosed with the letter) vesting the ‘area comprised in the Register Unit CL 93’ in the Territorial Force Association. This land is described in the Deed Poll as ‘common or waste or parcel of the Manor of Tottington in the County of Lancaster’ of which the ‘Clitheroe Estate Company are the Lords of the Manor’. Given that the land is still ‘waste’, it is now eligible for re-registration as common land. Though it would qualify as a s193 ‘urban’ common, the right of access would be subject to any MOD bye-laws. The land, however, would be protected for the future by being brought onto the register; and the rights of access might be revived if it passed out of the hands of the MOD.
CL 215 Long Grain Moor, Rossendale & Blackburn (140.00 ha)
CL 215 was registered as the result of a rights application. The objector was Bolton Borough Council (Corporation Waterworks; successor body NWWA, now United Utilities), who owned all the land within the Rossendale boundary. The rights claims were rejected and therefore the land registration. The commissioner did not consider whether the land was ‘waste of a manor’. It will, then, be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(4) if it can be shown to be ‘of a manor’. The greater part of CL 215 (the land in Rossendale) is shown on Barclay’s map as ‘Musden Head’, in the Manor of Accrington.
CL 99 Cowpe Moss, Rossendale (67.50 ha)
The land was registered by R J Assheton (Lord Clitheroe) who was also registered as the owner. The registration was objected to by B & J Ovenden. A small part of the land (1.50 ha) was excluded by agreement at the Hearing as belonging to Bolton Borough Council (Corporation Waterworks; successor body NWWA, now United Utilities). This area will therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5) if it can be shown to be ‘of a manor’. Lord Clitheroe laid claim to the rights and interests of the ‘Lord of the Forest of Rossendale’. As suggested in the case of the Boulsworth land (see p. 8 above), this should be understood as a claim to manorial rights. The Cowpe area is clearly shown on Barclay’s map as part of the Manor of Accrington/Forest of Rossendale.
CL 172 Ramsden and White Slack Common, Calderdale (200.00 ha)
CL 172 was registered by the East Lancashire Commoners Association. The land registration was objected to by British Rail and L R Greenwood. The two areas objected to (75.00 ha) comprised a strip of land over the railway tunnel at the eastern side of the common; and a much larger parcel on the western side to the north of Far Ends Clough (owned by the objector and not claimed to be subject to rights). Both areas were excluded by agreement at the Hearing and will be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5) if they can be shown to be ‘of a manor’. Confirmation of this will be found in the LCC case file. CL 172 is one of the areas marked on the map showing the ‘Rochdale Manor Lands’ supplied to LCC by J P Dearden, the Lord of the Manor of Rochdale. [Note: The map folder is marked as ‘to be kept with’ the folders for the relevant CL units (CL 162–73)].
CL 213 Brandwood Higher End Moor, Rossendale (104.49 ha)
CL 213 was registered by the East Lancashire Commoners Association. The land registration was objected to by P Dunne and Castleton Sand & Gravel Quarries Ltd. In the second Decision Letter [220/D/238–243 (Decision No 2)], 0.50 ha (‘the Dunne strip’) was excluded as not being subject to common rights. The commissioner did not consider whether this land was waste. It will therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(4) if it can be shown to be ‘of a manor’. According to Thomas Newbigging, the land was held as a manor in the C14th by Whalley Abbey [Court Rolls, Court of Receipt of Exchequer, 1343].

CL 257 Whitworth Lower End Moor and Jacksons Moor, Whitworth (120.00 ha)
The land was registered by the Ramblers Association. The West Pennine Water Board (successor body NWWA, now United Utilities) objected to the inclusion of the southern part of the unit. No rights had been registered. LCC therefore advised the RA that, in the light of the Clwyd case, the application could not succeed. The RA accepted this and the registration was subsequently cancelled without a Hearing under a Decision by Consent [220/D/227]. The land will therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5) if it can be shown to be ‘of a manor’.
CL 278 Cold Clough or Cow Clough Pasture, Whitworth (65.00 ha)
The land was registered as the result of a rights application. The registration was objected to by the West Pennine Water Board (successor North West Water Authority, now United Utilities). All the rights registrations were cancelled at the Hearing with the agreement of the applicants; and the land registration was cancelled on this basis. The commissioner did not consider whether the land was ‘waste of a manor’. It will therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(4) if it can be shown to be ‘of a manor’.
CL 173 Land at Naden Reservoir, Rochdale (150.00 ha)
The land was registered as the result of a rights application. The registration was objected to by West Pennine Water Board (successor NWWA, now United Utilities) and B & J Ovenden. The greater part of the land (124.34 ha) was excluded at the Hearing as not being subject to rights of common. The commissioner did not consider whether this land was waste of a manor. It will therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(4) if it can be shown to be ‘of a manor’. (Note: Birchen Holts, the part of CL 173 that was finally-registered, is one of the areas marked on the map showing the ‘Rochdale Manor Lands’ supplied to LCC by the Lord of the Manor of Rochdale. Though the excluded area is not marked on the map, this may be because of its sale in the late-C19th to Heywood Water Authority for the development of the reservoir [Decision Letter: 220/D/260–62]. This might have resulted in its ‘severance’ from the manor but would not affect its manorial status as defined in Schedule 2(4) of the 2006 Act).
10.  OTHER CL UNITS (BY AREA)
CL 147 Melling Moor, Melling-with-Wrayton (90.46 ha)

The land was registered as the result of a rights application made by W P Howson. The registration was part-cancelled without referral in response to an objection by British Rail. The excluded land is a small area (0.05 ha) over the railway tunnel on the western edge of the common. This land will be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5) if it can be shown to be ‘of a manor’ in the required sense. Bridgestock Ltd (the Hornby Estate) was registered as the owner of the common. [LRO Ref: DRB 1/134 ~ Melling-with-Wrayton Tithe Award 1849].
CL 180 Land forming part of Melling Moor, Melling-with-Wrayton (0.83 ha)

CL 180 was registered by Melling-with-Wrayton Parish Council. As with CL 147 (above), the registration seems to have been part-cancelled without referral in response to an objection from British Rail. The excluded land appears to be a small area (0.02 ha) over Melling Railway Tunnel (though this is not clear from the register map). This area will be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5) if it can be shown to be ‘of a manor’. Bridgestock Ltd (the Hornby Estate) was registered as owner. [LRO Ref: DRB 1/134 ~ Melling-with-Wrayton Tithe Award 1849].
CL 196 Cragg Lot, Arkholme-with-Cawood (60.00 ha)

CL 196 was registered by the owner, Bridgestock Ltd (the Hornby Estate). The registration was cancelled at the Hearing at the request of the successor in title, Mrs A Mason. The land will therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5) if it can be shown to be ‘of a manor’. CL 196 is shown on the Arkholme-with-Cawood Tithe Award (1848–49) as ‘The Great Allotment’ (no 394 in the schedule); and is said to belong to William Smith Cragg. A slightly larger area including the CL 196 land is identified in the Arkholme Inclosure Award (1804) as allotment 72 (allotted to ‘William Smith Jnr Esq’). The Award put into effect ‘an Act for dividing and inclosing certain tracts or parcels of moor common or waste ground within and parcel of the Honor and Manor of Hornby……John Marsden Esq is Lord of the said Honor and Manor and as such is seized of the soil inheritance and Royalties of and within each and every of the said parts or parcels of moor, common or waste ground parcel of and belonging to the said Honor and Manor’. Prior the inclosure, then, Cragg Lot was waste of the manor of Hornby. [LRO Ref: DRB 1/8 ~ Tithe Award (1848–49); AE 5/7 ~ Inclosure Award 1804 (Plan No 2, Allotments on Arkholme Moor)].
CL 176 (WR) Newton Fell, Newton-in-Bowland (170.00 ha)

The land registration was made as the result of a rights application and was objected to by Peel Settled Estates. It was part-cancelled (1.50 ha) under an agreement arrived at prior to the Hearing, which was confirmed by the commissioner on the grounds that the land (a small, triangular area on the west side of the common) had been registered by mistake. This area of land will be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5) if it can be shown to be ‘of a manor’. The claim of Lord Clitheroe to the rights and interests of the Lord of the Manor is noted in the register.
CL 287 Land North of Knot End Farm, Bowland-with-Leagram (0.32 ha)

The registration was made by Clitheroe RDC and was challenged by the Clerk of Bowland-with-Leagram Parish Council. The RDC could produce no evidence in support of the application which was made on the grounds that the land was unenclosed and might therefore be manorial waste. The registration was cancelled without referral on 6th December 1971. The land may now be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5) if it is still waste and can be shown to be of manorial origin.

CL 369 (WR) Gravel Beds, Lower Hodder Bridge, Great Mitton (0.30 ha)

The registration was made by Aighton, Bailey & Chaigley Parish Council and was objected to by Standen Settled Estates. A right to take gravel was claimed to be held by ‘the residents of the parish’. However, the Parish Council’s application related to the land and no rights were registered. The application was rejected on this basis. The commissioner did not consider whether the land was waste; and it might therefore be re-registered under Schedule 2(4)(4) if shown to be ‘of a manor’.
CL 209 Land near Sabden Hall, Goldshaw Booth (0.05 ha)

CL 209 was registered by Mr C McLean Couch. The registration was objected to by Major T V Smith Peacock, the owner of Sabden Hall Farm. The applicant stated that the registration was based of his own knowledge and on the oral evidence of (now-dead) parishioners. He suggested that the land was either manorial waste (which had only been fenced after his application had been submitted); or was part of an old highway. The registration was cancelled in June 1973 without referral to a commissioner. It will therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5) if it can be shown to be ‘waste of a manor’. Goldshaw Booth is shown on Barclay’s map as part of the Manor of Ightenhill (Forest of Pendle).
CL 236 Wood Laithe, Goldshaw Booth (0.05 ha)
CL 236 was registered by Mr C McLean Couch and was objected to by the owners of the land, Calder Water Board (successor body NWWA, now United Utilities). The registration was cancelled in July 1973 without referral to a commissioner and may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5). In the correspondence to be found in the case file it is indicated that CL 236 was registered for the same reasons as CL 209 (see above). Goldshaw Booth is shown on Barclay’s map as part of the Manor of Ightenhill (Forest of Pendle).
11.  REGULATED PASTURES
There has been some debate as to whether or not a regulated pasture should be classified as ‘common land’. The rights held over the former (which may be referred to as ‘stints’, ‘beastgates’ or ‘cattlegates’) are not in fact rights of common but derive from the ownership of the land in undivided shares, the quantity of the rights being determined in each case by the share of the land that is owned by the rights-holder. According to the DEFRA Guidance, ‘A number of regulated pastures were incorrectly registered under the 1965 Act, but the continuing registration of such land is not thought to give rise to any difficulties, and confers some benefits in terms of security of status, and public rights of access’.
 It is on this basis that regulated pastures are specifically protected from de-registration under Schedule 2(7) of the 2006 Act. Where a regulated pasture was provisionally but not finally registered under the 1965 Act, it may also now be eligible for re-registration as ‘waste land of a manor’ under Schedule 2(4). As noted above, land in this class is not subject to rights of common. Nor is its use any different in kind from that of other lands that are extensively grazed (i.e. it cannot be said to be ‘occupied’).

CL 41 Accrington Moor (14.17 ha)
CL 41 was registered as the result of a rights application but was in fact a regulated pasture, the rights being derived from the undivided ownership of the land in three ‘shares’ (though not a ‘statutory’ regulated pasture like Lythe Fell (see below), the legal status of Accrington Moor is of the same kind). As is clear from the Decision Letter [20/D/8–9], the commissioner accepted that the land had in fact been waste land of the manor of Accrington; but concluded that it had ceased to be such ‘sometime before 1839’. If it still qualifies as ‘waste’ (i.e. is still open, uncultivated and unoccupied), the land will therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(3). Copies of the manorial documents produced at the Hearing (see p. 3 of the Decision Letter) will be found in the CL 41 case file held by LCC. [LRO Ref: DDKE ~ Accrington and the Manor of Accrington; DP/443/1/1 ~ Manor of Accrington (1615-1852)]
CL 88 Lythe Fell, Tatham (800.00 ha)

The land was registered as the result of a number of rights applications but was in fact a regulated pasture. The registration was finally objected to by the Burn Moor & Lythe Fell Regulated Pasture Stintholders’ Committee; and was subsequently cancelled in accordance with an agreement made prior to the Hearing amongst the rights holders (who were also joint-owners of the land). CL 88 may therefore now be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5). Since there can be little doubt that it is ‘waste land’, this would depend on whether it is ‘of a manor’ in the required sense. The pasture was created under the Tatham Inclosure Award of 1858 and comprised ‘the Common of Lythe Fell and part of Burn Moor situate in the parish of Tatham in the county of Lancaster’. Under the award, the Lord of the Manor (Pudsey Dawson of Hornby Castle) was allotted 20 of the 400 stints (i.e. a twentieth share of the grazing) ‘in full compensation for the right and interest of the said Pudsey Dawson in the soil of the said lands’. Clearly, then, the land was manorial waste up until the Award of 1858 and will now qualify for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5). [A diary of events, together with extracts from/notes on the Inclosure Award, will be found in the case file held by LCC. See set of seven buff folders in box: Folder 1 contains the summary of events/correspondence; Folder 7 the extracts/notes on Inclosure Award] [LRO Ref: AE 5/12 ~ Tatham Inclosure Award].
CL 296 Freckleton Marsh (70.00 ha)
The land was registered by LCC ‘without application’.  The objectors were the Freckleton Marsh Gate Owners Association. The registration was cancelled by agreement at the Hearing and the land may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5). The case file for CL 296 has not as yet been examined. However, it is clear from the material held by Lancashire Record Office (reference below) that Freckleton Marsh is a regulated pasture. The question to be answered, then, would be whether or not the pasture was created out of land that was ‘waste of a manor’. [LRO Ref: DDD 181–88 ~ Papers relating to the [proposed] inclosure of Freckleton Marsh and Newton Marsh (nd, c 1880–1906)].
12.  LAND ALLOTTED FOR PUBLIC PURPOSES UNDER AN INCLOSURE ACT
In August 1968, at the beginning of the second registration period, the Charity Commission wrote to all Commons Registration Authorities advising against the registration of land held under a charitable trust as common land [28.8.68]. This included, in particular, allotments made under an Inclosure Act where the land was held by trustees for the freemen or poor of an area (or on behalf of some other ‘fluctuating body’). The latter might enjoy rights to take e.g. fuel, sand or gravel or to graze cattle or sheep. However, these were not rights of common but were exercised by virtue of the trust. If it was registered as a common, the trustees might find their dealings with the land would be restricted.

Towards the end of the second objection period, in July 1972, the County Council’s Fire Service and Public Protection Committee recommended that LCC should act on this advice by exercising its discretionary powers of objection under section 5(3) of the 1965 Act (which applied where there was no ownership claim to land that had been provisionally registered). A list of public watering places and stone pits was drawn up to which objections were submitted. Of the CL units in the list, seven were registered by Parish Councils. The remaining three (in Aighton) were registered by Clitheroe RDC.
Public Watering Places

1. CL 187 White Moss, Yealand Redmayne (0.026 ha)
Cancelled: (7.12.72)
2. CL 251 Senset Well, Warton (0.035 ha)
Cancelled: (19.12.72)
3. CL 252 Large Weir, Warton (0.25 ha)
Cancelled: (19.12.72)
4. CL 253 Little Weir, Warton (0.12 ha)
Cancelled: (19.12.72)
Public Stone Pits

5. CL 254 Warton Crag (0.70 ha)
Cancelled: (19.12.72)
6. CL 255 Warton Crag (0.14 ha)
Cancelled: (19.12.72)
7. CL 80 The Dingle, Dutton (0.30 ha)
Cancelled: (23.11.72)
8. CL 288 Kemple End, Aighton, Bailey & Chaigley (0.60 ha)
Cancelled: (13.11.72)
9. CL 289 Rake Foot Quarry, Aighton, Bailey & Chaigley (0.50 ha)
Cancelled: (13.11.72)
10. CL 290 Crowshaw Quarry, Aighton, Bailey & Chaigley (0.85 ha)
Cancelled: (13.11.72)
This action prompted a letter from the Warton Village Society [25.9.72], which had been advised in 1966 by the County Archivist [16.12.66] that a number of areas might be registered that were now objected to by the County Council. LCC replied to this letter a week later [2.10.72], explaining the Charity Commission’s position; but also pointing out that, where an allotment was for a public stone pit or watering place, ownership may well have been vested in the Surveyor of Highways and have subsequently passed to the County Council. The objections, it was suggested, were a ‘protective’ step. LCC was currently undertaking investigations and if the objections proved unnecessary they would be withdrawn.

LCC wrote the next day [3.10.72] to the Charity Commission to enquire whether any of the CL units in the list were in fact registered as charitable trusts. It received confirmation on 4th December 1972 that none of them were. In the interim, the entries for four of these units had been cancelled at the request of the applicants. Two days later, a further unit in Yealand Redmayne was cancelled. Warton Parish Council requested the deletion of the remaining five units on 14th December. There is no indication that LCC advised either Warton or Yealand Redmayne Parish Council of the Charity Commission’s reply.

If they have not been developed or otherwise ‘occupied’, there does not seem to be any good reason why these areas should not be re-registered now under Schedule 2(4)(5) as manorial waste. They would, as a result, be protected as common land; and would be subject to a public right of access under the C&RoW Act. The original applications were made for a number of reasons. One of the ‘watering places’ in Warton, for example, was used for public recreation. As is acknowledged in its letter to Warton Village Society [2.10.72], if LCC had acted earlier this land might have been registered as a village green. Four public watering places and five public quarries/stone pits were in fact registered under the 1965 Act, seven of them during the first registration period (i.e. prior to the events described above).
 Five of these CL units were subject to the protection of the local authorities under section 9 of the 1965 Act; whilst three are owned by Parish Councils.

13.  PINFOLDS

As a direct result of the policies pursued by Lancashire and West Riding County Councils, only one pinfold is currently included in the Lancashire register of common land (CL 10, The Pinfold, Higham-with-West Close Booth). In this instance, Higham Parish Council persisted in its application in the face of objections from R J Assheton (Lord Clitheroe) and LCC. The Decision Letter for the case [20/D/2] makes interesting reading. The Hearing was held in June 1972.
 In attending, LCC claimed that ‘because in this County there have been a number of registrations of pinfolds…the County Council is desirous of [obtaining] a ruling by a Commons Commissioner as to their registrability’. The commissioner, in confirming the registration, gave reasons why he thought such land was indeed ‘registrable’ under the Act. The policy that had already been adopted by LCC, however, was diametrically opposed to this ruling. It was not changed subsequent to the Hearing.

In late-1971, LCC undertook a review of provisionally-registered land. Where a pinfold was registered as common, the applicants were asked to provide evidence of past use. Subsequently, LCC advised that it did not consider pinfolds to be common land; and applicants were invited to submit objections to their own applications to facilitate a cancellation. Where, as in most of these cases, they did so, the registration was cancelled without referral to a commissioner.

Most pinfold registrations were made by Parish Councils. The register, however, includes only one entry for an ownership claim made by such a council (most of the land sections are empty or missing). If the land had been finally-registered, then, referral to a commissioner may well have resulted in its vesting in the Parish Council under section 8 of the 1965 Act. LCC advised that this could only happen in the case of a VG application. The County also advised that registration would hamper dealings with the land (e.g. repairs) because of the restrictions imposed by s194 of the Law of Property Act 1925. Both of these pieces of advice were wrong; though they almost certainly encouraged Parish Councils to submit to the course advocated by LCC.
Largely as a result of these policies, the following CL units failed to be finally-registered under the 1965 Act:

1. CL 120 The Pinfold, Pilling (0.24 ha)
Cancelled: (4.1.72)
2. CL 136 The Pinfold, Arkholme-with-Cawood (0.01 ha)
Cancelled: (29.12.76)
3. CL 152 The Pinfold, Burrow-with-Burrow (0.015 ha)
Cancelled: (8.12.71)

4. CL 201 The Pinfold, Dykes Lane, Yealand Conyers (0.005 ha)
Cancelled: (18.8.72)
5. CL 202 The Pound, Silverdale Road, Yealand Redmayne (0.01 ha)
Cancelled: (18.8.72)
6. CL 218 The Pinfold, Great Eccleston (0.01 ha)
Cancelled: (10.2.72)
7. CL 229 The Penfold, The Well & The Green, Thurnham (0.01 ha)
Cancelled: (23.8.77)
8. CL 282 The Pinfold, Rawtenstall (0.10 ha)
Cancelled: (23.8.84)
9. CL 60 (WR) The Village Pinfold, West Bradford (0.005 ha)
Cancelled: (22.6.71)
Only three cases in this list require further comment; and only one of them (CL 229) is doubtful as a candidate for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5). CL 136 (The Pinfold, Arkholme) was cancelled under a Decision by Consent that was confirmed without a Hearing in 1976 [220/D/65]. CL 282 (The Pinfold, Rawtenstall) was subject to a Hearing; but the applicant failed to attend, having already requested by letter that the registration be withdrawn [220/D/308]. CL 229 (The Penfold, The Well & The Green, Thurnham) was registered by T E Jackson and was objected to by The British Waterways Board, Lancaster Port Commission and Ashley Bending Company Ltd. No rights were recorded; and there does not seem to have been any historical evidence to support the registration of the land as waste of a manor [220/D/66–8].

In the light of the foregoing, there clearly needs to be a re-assessment of the policy adopted by the County Council during the original registration period. Again, there seems to be no good reason – insofar as they may properly be seen as constituting remnants of the waste (see Decision Letter 20/D/2 referred to in para 1 above) – why these parcels of land should not now be re-registered under Schedule 2(4)(5).

14.  APPLICATIONS INVOLVING RIGHTS OF PISCARY
Given that common land includes land covered by water, and given the way the CL units in this group were dealt with under the 1965 Act (all four applications were withdrawn/cancelled, either before or after referral to a commissioner) it would be possible to pursue their re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5) – though it would need to be shown that the land is, or was at some time in the past, ‘of a manor’. It is not obvious, however, how the land would be better protected by being brought onto the commons register. Similarly, there would be no benefits in terms of increased access under the Countryside and Rights of Way Act. The riverbanks at CL 280 are accessible from public footpaths and CL 480 adjoins a public road. There are also public footpaths along much of the length of CL 274 and CL 642. There are therefore rights of way to the riverside in all of these cases. However, the right of access conferred by the 2000 Act does not apply to boats or other craft; nor does it apply to swimmers (C&RoW Act, Schedule 2(1)).
CL 274 Part of the Bed of the River Ribble in the parishes of Billington, Dinckley, Clayton-le-Dale, Osbaldeston, Bowland with Leagram, Aighton Bailey and Chaigley, Little Mitton, Dutton & Ribchester (102.00 ha)
CL 642 (WR) Half Bed of the River Hodder between Hodder Foot and Stakes Farm (25.00 ha) in the parishes of Bashall Eaves, Great Mitton & Bowland Forest Lower (25.00 ha)

These two cases were dealt with together. The registrations were made in July 1970 (CL 274) and April 1970 (CL 642) by the Trust for Roman Catholic Purposes Registered, who claimed rights of piscary over extensive stretches of the Ribble and the Hodder. Each of the registrations was subject to multiple objections from landowners (there were, in all, sixty-five disputes). The Hearings were repeatedly adjourned to permit the negotiation of a ‘Deed of Compromise’, though there is no record of any agreement of terms. The registrations were finally declared void by the commissioner at the end of 1983.
CL 280 River Lune, Caton-with-Littledale (3.00 ha)

The registration was cancelled without referral on 1st November 1972. The applicant (Lancaster and District Angling Association) had discovered that the rights were not rights of common but were in fact manorial rights that had been purchased from the Lord of the Manor, Colonel De Vitre, in March 1927 [CL 280 case file]. This implies, on the face of it, that the land is or was ‘of a manor’, in which case it would be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5). Some of the manorial records for Caton are held at LRO. [LRO Ref: Gaisforth of Gresgarth/DDGa; DDX/70 ~ plans of the manor].
CL 480 (WR) Grindleton Bank Bottom (0.11 ha)

The land was registered as the result of a rights application made by the Parish Council, who claimed fishing rights on behalf of the inhabitants of Grindleton along a stretch of the river that was accessible from a public road. The registration was objected to by E M Heaton. There were records of the rights being leased by the Parish Council in the early C20th. However, no-one from the Council attended the Hearing and the registration was rejected on the grounds that no evidence had been presented to support it. The land may therefore now be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5) if it can be shown to be ‘of a manor’. [N.B. Ref in case file of County Clerk of West Yorks CC to ‘copyhold’ and Court Rolls].
15.  CASES INVOLVING A CONFLICTING VILLAGE GREEN REGISTRATION
Nearly all of this land was finally-registered as, or as part of, a Village Green and would not therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4) of the 2006 Act. The Schedule 2(5) provisions may be relevant in some cases.

CL 4 Salesbury and Copster Green Common, Salesbury (7.94 ha)
The land was registered by Blackburn RDC. A small area (0.01 ha) was excluded in an agreement that was confirmed at the Hearing by the commissioner. The registration was in conflict with a VG registration (VG 49) which covered the same land. However the applicants for the latter, the Ramblers Association, failed to appear at the Hearing and the CL application prevailed. This might be a case where the land could be re-registered as a village green under Schedule 2(5) of the 2006 Act.
CL 5 The Green, Wrea Green, Ribby-with-Wrea (2.86 ha)
The land was registered by E G Sergeant. It was finally-registered as a village green (VG 1). (See note in land section entry for CL 5, where the conflict is said to relate to ‘the whole of the land’).
CL 17 & CL 182 Wennington Green (1.04 ha)
Most of this land was finally-registered as VG 6. The Village Green registration was made by Lunesdale RDC and covered a slightly smaller area than the conflicting CL 17 application submitted by Wennington Parish Council. The latter was withdrawn /deleted on 24th August 1967 (i.e. without referral to a commissioner). The balance of the land, comprising three small pieces, was simultaneously registered as a separate CL unit (CL 36). During the second registration period, a further CL application (CL 182) covering the same area as VG 6 – but again slightly larger; and also, in its original form, overlapping with Wennington Waste (CL 7) – was made by A W Taylor of Wennington. Mr Taylor, who grazed the unit land, felt that it ought therefore to be registered as a common and not a green. The CL 182 registration was declared void on 23rrd August 1977 [220/D/87–8]. This does mean, however, that the two small parts of CL 182 that did NOT overlap with VG 6 or CL 7 (lying at the extreme eastern and western ends of CL 182) may now be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(4). These two small ‘extra’ pieces do not seem to have been noticed (i.e. ‘considered’) by the commissioner at the Hearing. (See CL 182 file for original application area, which included an overlap with CL 7. The Tithe Map referred to in the Decision Letter [220/D/87–8] may be helpful in establishing the status of the two extra pieces. [LRO Ref: Tithe Map ~ DRB/Wennington (1849); also PR 3327: acc 5310, 5404]
CL 181 Melling Green, Melling-with-Wrayton (1.50 ha)
The land was registered by Melling-with-Wrayton Parish Council. It was finally-registered as a village green (VG 54). (See note in land section entry for CL 181, where the conflict is said to relate to ‘the whole of the land’).
CL 270 Rivington Green, Rivington, Chorley (0.16 ha)
The land was registered by Rivington Parish Council. It was finally-registered as a village green (VG 66). (See note in land section entry for CL 270, where the conflict is said to relate to ‘the whole of the land’).
CL 275 Worston Village Green or The Bull Ring (0.49 ha)
The land was registered as the result of a rights application. It was finally-registered as VG 43. (See note in land section entry for CL 275, where the conflict is said to relate to ‘the whole of the land’).
16.  LAND INELIGIBLE FOR RE-REGISTRATION
CL 45 Salt Marshes, Silverdale and Warton (427.00 ha)
The land was registered by J P Merrett. The objectors were Lancaster RDC, J Wilkinson & T W Ward Ltd. It was agreed prior to the Hearing that the land SE of the River Keer channel should be excluded. The agreement was confirmed by the commissioner (the excluded land seems to have been registered as part of other CL units). An area belonging to Lancaster RDC – which looks as though it was (or was to be) built upon – was also excluded by agreement. This latter area (7.50 ha) might be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5); though it seems unlikely that it would qualify as ‘waste land’.
CL 149 Hapton Common, Hapton, Burnley (3.50 ha)

The land was registered as the result of a rights application. The objectors were a local farmer (T Parker) and Calder Water Board. The latter claimed ownership of most of the land. Both land and rights registrations were cancelled at the Hearing. The commissioner did not consider whether the land was waste and it might therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(4). However, it is now an enclosed field, part built upon, that is used for raising free-range poultry.
CL 164 Healey or Monstone Edge Common, Whitworth (87.27 ha)
CL 164 was registered by the East Lancashire Commoners Association. The registration was objected to by E L Barrow & J Sunderland. Two areas of land (0.23 ha) were excluded under an agreement that was confirmed at the Hearing: (i) a small area to the south attached to a group of cottages; and (ii) a parcel of land on the west side of the common, purchased in 1968, over which planning permission for residential development had been granted. CL 164 is one of the commons marked on the map of the ‘Rochdale Manor Lands’ that was supplied to LCC by the Lord of the Manor. The excluded land may therefore be eligible for re-registration under Schedule 2(4)(5), though it is unlikely that it would qualify as ‘waste land’.
CL 177 Harden Moor, Ramsbottom (117.00 ha)
CL 177 was registered as the result of a rights application. The objector was Bolton Borough Council (Corporation Waterworks; successor body NWWA, now United Utilities). A small reservoir (2.00 ha) at the NW corner of the land was excluded from the registration by agreement at the Hearing. In theory, this means that the reservoir might now be re-registered under Schedule 2(4)(5), though there would seem to be no point in pursuing this case.
CL 184 The Salt Marsh, Hambleton (11.70 ha)

The land was registered by Hambleton Parish Council. There were multiple objections. The small area excluded from the registration (c. 0.20 ha – which seems to form part of a drainage channel) lay below the High Water mark and belonged to the Duchy of Lancaster. It was said to have been mistakenly registered and was excluded by agreement at the Hearing.
CL 271 Land near Lades Marsh, Overton (1.78 ha); CL 272 Blue Potts, Overton (0.11 ha)
CL 271 and CL 272 were provisionally registered at the end of the second registration period (2nd January 1970) by Overton Parish Council. The Parish Clerk subsequently wrote to the County Council [30.5.72] seeking advice. CL 272 was used as ‘a bus terminal with shelter and public conveniences’; whilst it was hoped to use CL 271 as a recreation ground. The intention behind the applications had been to establish ownership. LCC advised against registration and both entries were cancelled on 7th November 1972. Though they may be ‘of a manor’, it seems unlikely in the light of the above that either area would now qualify as ‘waste land’.
BARCLAY’S MAP AND SURVEY OF THE HONOR OF CLITHEROE
The map (reading from the cartouche in the top left-hand corner) shows ‘the Manors, Forests, etc within the Honor of Clitheroe belonging to their Graces Henry Duke of Buccleuch and Elizabeth Duchess of Buccleuch his Wife into which the several Coal Leases granted by them extend showing not only the Boundaries and Extents of the Manors, etc respectively but the Boundaries and Extent of the several Districts in the respective Leases’. The land is said to have been surveyed ‘within the Years commencing 1804 and ending 1810 under the Direction of Ralph Fletcher Esq by Thomas Barclay’. Fletcher was a coal-owner and magistrate from Bolton, who was mineral adviser to the Honor.†
In outline, the text on the face of the map (which is reproduced in the book of reference) is as follows:

1. Manors and Forests. Section one provides details of the Honor’s land-holdings within the manors of Colne, Ightenhill, Accrington and Tottington, and the townships of Worsthorne and Cliviger. A set of Tables describes the copyhold and freehold land owned by the Honor in each township (the copyhold areas being distinguished as either inclosed or uninclosed). The forests are included as sub-divisions of the manors. Most of the forest land is shown as copyhold;

2. Abstract of section one, summarising the area in acres of the land belonging to the Honor;

3. Unoccupied Water Falls. Section three lists the rivers, streams, etc in the manors of Colne, Ightenhill, Accrington and Tottington, describing the stretches of water (also marked on the map) that are unoccupied by water-mills;

4. Boundaries of Each Manor. This section provides a formal ‘boundaries statement’ together with the location of the manor courts for each area (see transcript below). The forests are declared to be part of the manors – reflecting the section one listings, where the forests are shown as sub-divisions of the manors;

5. Coal Leases and Coal Pits. Taken together, sections three and five provide an assessment of energy resources;
6. Men balloted for the Local Militia between the Age of 18 and 30 in the year 1809. The dating of the militia lists suggests that the map and book of reference were produced at the end of the 1804–10 survey;

7. Ecclesiastical Divisions. This final section lists the various chapels, chapelries, etc by district and parish.
TRANSCRIPT of Section 4: ‘Boundaries of Each Manor’

The Manor of Coln Includes the Forest of Trawden and comprises the Townships of Colne, Trawden, & Foulridge; The Courts for which are held at Colne

The Manor of Ightenhill Includes the Forest of Pendle and comprises the Townships of Great and Little Marsden, Briercliff with Extwistle, Burnley, Habergam Eaves, Padiham, Heyhouses and the seven Booths of Pendle Forest. The Courts for the Manor of Ightenhill are held at Burnley those for the Forest of Pendle at Higham which is in the Forest

The Manor of Accrington Includes the Manor of Haslingden and the Forests of Accrington and Rossendale and comprises the Townships of Old Accrington, New Accrington, Haslingden and the six Booths of Rossendale Forest the Courts for all of which are held at Haslingden. The Bounds of the Forest of Rossendale and Manor of Haslingden are known but the Bounds of the Forest of Accrington are not accurately understood

NB ~ All of the above are within the Parish of Whalley except Musbury & Cowpe Lench, Newhall Hey and Hall Carr; which are parts of Rossendale Forest but within the Parish of Bury and except also Yate Bank and Pickup Bank which are parts of the same Forest but within the Parish of Blackburn

The Manor of Tottington comprises the Townships of Tottington Higher End & Tottington Lower End in the Parish of Bury the Courts for which are held at Holcome

NB ~ Their Graces are also entitled to the Fee of Tottington (for which a distinct Court is holden) comprising the Manor of Tottington and the Manors of Bury, Middleton, Alkrington, Chatterton and Far Newton which five last mentioned Manors belong to other Lords

The Wapentake of Blackburn comprises 62 Townships 20 of which only, namely those of Old Accrington, New Accrington, Burnley, Habergam Eaves, Briercliff with Extwistle, Cliviger, Coln, Foulridge, Haslingden, Heyhouses, Huncote, Ightenhill Park, Great & Little Marsden, Padiham, Read, Simonstone, Trawden, Worsthorne, the Booths of Pendle Forest and the Booths of the Forest of Rossendale, are included in this map
	
	CL No
	Name
	Register

Status
	Prov

(ha)
	Excl

(ha)
	Final

(ha)

	
	

	
	
	MORECAMBE BAY

	
	130
	Silverdale Salt Marsh
	C
	15.00
	—
	—

	
	154
	Silverdale Marsh
	C
	240.00
	—
	—

	
	273
	The Salt Marsh, Silverdale & Warton
	C
	370.00
	—
	—

	
	283
	The Salt Marsh, Bolton-le-Sands, Slyne-with-Hest, Silverdale & Warton 
	W
	400.00
	—
	—

	
	

	
	
	THE LUNE ESTUARY & SUNDERLAND POINT

	
	151
	Land at Overton
	C
	2.00
	—
	—

	
	212
	The Salt Marsh, Overton & Middleton
	C
	90.00
	—
	—

	
	238
	The Salt Marsh and Lades Marsh, Overton
	C
	9.00
	—
	—

	
	211
	Lades Marsh, Overton
	C
	80.00
	—
	—

	
	135
	The Salt Marsh, Thurnham
	Pt
	13.87
	1.75
	12.12

	
	

	
	
	COCKERHAM & PILLING

	
	137
	Cockerham Salt Marsh
	W
	75.00
	—
	—

	
	119
	Pilling Marsh
	C
	225.00
	—
	—

	
	

	
	
	THE RIBBLE ESTUARY

	
	203
	The Salt Marsh, North Meols
	C
	2100.00
	—
	—

	
	232
	Hesketh Bank Marsh, Hesketh-with-Becconsall
	C
	650.00
	—
	—

	
	

	
	
	LECK FELL

	
	71
	Fenwick Allotment, Leck Fell
	C
	175.00
	—
	—

	
	72
	High Leck Fell
	W
	675.00
	—
	—

	
	

	
	
	PENDLE HILL

	
	44
	Worston Moor
	Pt
	110.00
	36.45
	73.55

	
	204
	Mearley Moor
	W
	100.00
	—
	—

	
	217
	Pendle Hill, Downham, Mearley & Worston
	W
	535.00
	—
	—

	
	

	
	
	THE BOULSWORTH COMMONS

	
	183
	Bonlsworth Hill, Trawden & Nelson
	Pt
	650.00
	566.23
	83.77

	
	261
	Trawden Moor
	Pt
	220.00
	152.25
	67.75

	
	134
	Trawden Moors
	C
	475.00
	—
	—

	
	258
	Combe Hill
	C
	400.00
	—
	—
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	ROSSENDALE

	
	284
	Cribden Moor, Haslingden
	C
	40.00
	—
	—

	
	139
	Jackson Height and Pike Lowe, Oswaldwistle & Haslingden
	C
	65.00
	—
	—

	
	42
	Holcombe Moor (Pt), Rossendale & Blackburn
	Pt
	466.00
	6.00
	460.00

	
	93
	Holcombe Moor (Pt), Rossendale
	C
	140.00
	—
	—

	
	215
	Long Grain Moor, Rossendale & Blackburn
	C
	140.00
	—
	—

	
	99
	Cowpe Moss, Rossendale
	Pt
	67.50
	1.50
	66.00

	
	172
	Ramsden and White Slack Common, Calderdale
	Pt
	200.00
	75.00
	125.00

	
	213
	Brandwood Higher End Moor, Rossendale
	Pt
	104.49
	0.50
	104.09

	
	257
	Whitworth Lower End Moor and Jacksons Moor, Whitworth
	C
	120.00
	—
	—

	
	278
	Cold Clough or Cow Clough Pasture, Whitworth
	C
	65.00
	—
	—

	
	173
	Land in the vicinity of Naden Reservoirs, Rochdale
	Pt
	150.00
	124.34
	25.66

	
	

	
	
	OTHER CL UNITS (BY AREA)

	
	147
	Melling Moor, Melling-with-Wrayton
	Pt
	90.46
	0.05
	90.41

	
	180
	Land forming part of Melling Moor, Melling-with-Wrayton
	Pt
	0.83
	0.02
	0.81

	
	196
	Cragg Lot, Arkholme-with-Cawood
	C
	60.00
	—
	—

	
	176 (WR)
	Newton Fell, Newton-in-Bowland
	Pt
	170.00
	1.50
	168.50

	
	287
	Land north of Knot End Farm, Bowland-with-Leagram
	W
	0.32
	—
	—

	
	369 (WR)
	Gravel Beds, Lower Hodder Bridge, Great Mitton
	C
	0.30
	—
	—

	
	209
	Land near Sabden Hall, Goldshaw Booth
	C
	0.05
	—
	—

	
	236
	Wood Laithe, Goldshaw Booth
	W
	0.05
	—
	—

	
	

	
	
	REGULATED PASTURES

	
	41
	Accrington Moor
	C
	14.17
	—
	—

	
	88
	Lythe Fell, Tatham
	C
	800.00
	—
	—

	
	296
	Freckleton Marsh
	C
	70.00
	—
	—

	
	

	
	
	LAND ALLOTTED FOR PUBLIC PURPOSES UNDER AN INCLOSURE ACT

	
	187
	White Moss, Yealand Redmayne
	W
	0.026
	—
	—

	
	251
	Senset Well, Warton
	W
	0.035
	—
	—

	
	252
	Large Weir, Warton
	W
	0.25
	—
	—
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	253
	Little Weir, Warton
	W
	0.12
	—
	—

	
	254
	Warton Crag, Warton
	W
	0.70
	—
	—

	
	255
	Warton Crag, Warton
	W
	0.14
	—
	—

	
	80
	The Dingle, Dutton
	W
	0.30
	—
	—

	
	288
	Kemple End, Aighton, Bailey & Chaigley
	W
	0.60
	—
	—

	
	289
	Rake Foot Quarry, Aighton, Bailey & Chaigley
	W
	0.50
	—
	—

	
	290
	Crowshaw Quarry, Aighton, Bailey & Chaigley
	W
	0.85
	—
	—

	
	

	
	
	PINFOLDS

	
	120
	The Pinfold, Pilling
	W
	0.24
	—
	—

	
	136
	The Pinfold, Arkholme-with-Cawood
	C
	0.01
	—
	—

	
	152
	The Pinfold, Burrow-with-Burrow
	W
	0.015
	—
	—

	
	201
	The Pinfold, Dykes Lane, Yealand Conyers
	W
	0.005
	—
	—

	
	202
	The Pound, Silverdale Road, Yealand Redmayne
	W
	0.01
	—
	—

	
	218
	The Pinfold, Great Eccleston
	W
	0.01
	—
	—

	
	229
	The Penfold, The Well and The Green, Thurnham
	C
	0.01
	—
	—

	
	282
	The Pinfold, Rawtenstall
	C
	0.10
	—
	—

	
	60 (WR)
	The Village Pinfold, West Bradford
	W
	0.005
	—
	—

	
	

	
	
	APPLICATIONS INVOLVING RIGHTS OF PISCARY

	
	274
	Part of the bed of The River Ribble
	C
	102.00
	—
	—

	
	642 (WR)
	Half-bed of The River Hodder between Hodder Foot and Stakes Farm
	C
	25.00
	—
	—

	
	280
	River Lune, Caton-with-Littledale
	W
	3.00
	—
	—

	
	480 (WR)
	Grindleton Bank Bottom
	C
	0.11
	—
	—

	
	

	
	
	CASES INVOLVING A CONFLICTING VILLAGE GREEN REGISTRATION

	
	4
	Salesbury and Copster Green Common, Salesbury
	Pt
	7.95
	0.01
	7.94

	
	5
	The Green, Wrea Green, Ribby-with-Wrea
	C
	2.86
	—
	—

	
	17 & 182
	Wennington Green, Wennington 
	C
	1.04
	—
	—

	
	181
	Melling Green, Melling-with-Wrayton
	W
	1.50
	—
	—

	
	270
	Rivington Green, Rivington
	C
	0.16
	—
	—

	
	275
	Worston Village Green or The Bull Ring
	C
	0.49
	—
	—
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	LAND INELIGIBLE FOR RE-REGISTRATION

	
	45
	The Salt Marshes, Silverdale & Warton
	Pt
	427.00
	7.50
	419.50

	
	149
	Hapton Common, Hapton, Burnley
	C
	3.50
	—
	—

	
	164
	Healey or Manstone Edge Common, Whitworth
	Pt
	86.27
	0.23
	86.04

	
	177
	Harden Moor, Ramsbottom
	Pt
	117.00
	2.00
	115.00

	
	184
	The Salt Marsh, Hambleton
	Pt
	11.70
	1.75
	9.95

	
	271
	Land near Lades Marsh, Overton
	W
	1.78
	—
	—

	
	272
	Blue Potts, Overton
	W
	0.11
	—
	—


KEY

Prov (ha) = Area in hectares of the land provisionally registered

Excl (ha) = Area in hectares of the land excluded from final registration

Final (ha) = Area in hectares of the land finally registered

W = Application withdrawn before referral

C = Referred application cancelled by agreement or declared void by a commissioner

Pt = Application modified (part-withdrawn) before referral; or cancelled/declared void in part only
	Commons Act 2006: Schedule 2(4)
Waste land of a manor not registered as common land

(1) If a commons registration authority is satisfied that any land not registered as common land or as a town or village green is land to which this paragraph applies, the authority shall, subject to this paragraph, register the land as common land in its register of common land.

(2) This paragraph applies to land which at the time of the application under sub-paragraph (1) is waste land of a manor and where, before the commencement of this paragraph—

(a) the land was provisionally registered as common land under section 4 of the 1965 Act;

(b) an objection was made in relation to the provisional registration; and 

(c) the provisional registration was cancelled in the circumstances specified in sub-paragraph (3), (4) or (5).

(3) The circumstances in this sub-paragraph are that—

(a) the provisional registration was referred to a Commons Commissioner under section 5 of the 1965 Act;

(b) the Commissioner determined that, although the land had been waste land of a manor at some earlier time, it was not such land at the time of the determination because it had ceased to be connected with the manor; and

(c) for that reason only the Commissioner refused to confirm the provisional registration.

(4) The circumstances in this sub-paragraph are that—

(a) the provisional registration was referred to a Commons Commissioner under section 5 of the 1965 Act;

(b) the Commissioner determined that the land was not subject to rights of common and for that reason refused to confirm the provisional registration; and

(c) the Commissioner did not consider whether the land was waste land of a manor.

(5) The circumstances in this sub-paragraph are that the person on whose application the provisional registration was made requested or agreed to its cancellation (whether before or after its referral to a Commons Commissioner).

(6) A commons registration authority may only register land under subparagraph (1) acting on—

(a) the application of any person made before such date as regulations may specify; or

(b) a proposal made and published by the authority before such date as regulations may specify.




�  For the text of Schedule 2(4) see Appendix III.


�  The Case Assessment Sheets are available at: � HYPERLINK "http://www.commonsreregistration.org.uk/pilotareas.html#CaseAssessmentSheets" ��www.commonsreregistration.org.uk/pilotareas.html#CaseAssessmentSheets�


�  John Chapman, 1976, ‘Parliamentary Enclosure in the Uplands: the Case of the North York Moors’, Agric Hist Review, Vol 24, p. 1.


�  The time lag of at least six weeks between the issue of a Decision Letter by a commissioner and that of the ‘Notice of Final Disposal’ was intended to allow for the possibility of an appeal against the decision on a point of law to the High Court.


�  G H Tupling, 1927, The Economic History of Rossendale, Manchester. 


�  An accessible account of the copyhold dispute will be found in: Thomas Newbigging, 1893, History of the Forest of Rossendale, Rossendale Free Press, Book Third, Ch III. An e-version of the text is available at � HYPERLINK "http://www.archive.org/details/texts" ��http://www.archive.org/details/texts�


�  See, for example, LCC Legal Services Group Files, RoW Claim No 804/89 (2003); and RoW Claim No 804/414 (2005)


�  Newbigging, op cit, Book Second, Chapter II, pp 38–47.


�  Guidance to commons registration authorities for the pilot implementation (Version 1.21), July 2009, DEFRA, para 8.6.4


�  Ibid, 8.3.14


�  Watering Places: CL 46, CL 200 (pt), CL 90(WR), CL 479(WR); Quarries/Stone Pits: CL 16, CL 20, CL 295, CL 56(WR), CL 57(WR)


�  The date of 6th June 1970 given in the Decision Letter for the Hearing must be a mistake, as the commissioners did not begin to hear cases until 1972. The Letter was signed/issued on 2nd August 1972.


�  A similar policy was adopted in the West Riding of Yorkshire, though WRCC itself submitted the relevant objections.


†  Fletcher, Ralph, Oxford Dictionary of National Biography, online edn: � HYPERLINK "http://www.oxforddnb.com/view/article/71321" ��http://www.oxforddnb.com/view/article/71321� See also: Kenneth Wood, 2004, Herbert Fletcher of Bolton, 1842–1895, pp 2 & 7, available at: � HYPERLINK "http://www.boltonrevisited.org.uk/p-herbert-fletcher.html" ��www.boltonrevisited.org.uk/p-herbert-fletcher.html�





